City of St. Helens

Planning Commission Meeting January 13, 2015 Minutes

Members Present: Al Petersen, Chair

Dan Cary, Vice Chair

Greg Cohen, Commissioner Sheila Semling, Commissioner Audrey Webster, Commissioner Kathryn Lawrence, Commissioner Russell Hubbard, Commissioner

Members Absent: None

Staff Present: Jacob Graichen, City Planner

Jennifer Dimsho, Assistant Planner

Crystal Farnsworth, Communications Officer

Councilors Present: Ginny Carlson, City Council Liaison

Others Present:

Ron Youngberg Chris Thomas
Paul Woods Dorian Hayles
Derek Ruckman Howard Blumenthal

Rich Garber Victoria Asbill

Bob Pharmer Joseph Waytasher
Kristine Lambert Ray & Micky Scholl

Diane Dillard Brian May

Stephen Topaz Roseanne Lewallen

Della Fawcett

The Planning Commission meeting was called to order by Chair Al Petersen at 7:00 p.m. Chair Petersen led the flag salute.

Consent Agenda

Approval of Minutes

Chair Petersen requested the following changes: 1) At the bottom of page 5, Chair Petersen should be switched with Commissioner Lawrence and the top of page 6, instead of Commissioner Lawrence, it should say Chair Petersen, 2) At the bottom of page 6 in the first sentence of the last paragraph, the word "could" should be replaced with the word "should", 3) Under For Your Information, the third line should say "increasing AR to 45 percent" not 55 percent [Secretary Note: It was verified that 55 percent is the correct percentage].

Commissioner Webster moved to approve the minutes of the December 9, 2015 Planning Commission meeting as corrected above. Commissioner Semling seconded the motion. Motion carried with all in favor. Vice Chair Cary recused himself from voting due to his absence from that meeting. And Chair Petersen did not vote as per operating rules.

Topics From The Floor

There were no topics from the floor.

Public Hearing
Columbia Piver Fire &

Columbia River Fire & Rescue Conditional Use Permit / CUP.1.14 58577 McNulty Way

It is now 7:05 p.m. and Chair Petersen opened the public hearing. There were no ex-parte contacts, conflicts of interest or bias in this matter.

City Planner Jacob Graichen entered the following items into the record:

Staff report packet dated January 6, 2015 with attachments

Graichen first discussed the history of the site, the applicable criteria, analysis, and potential conditions the Commission could consider as noted in the staff report. Graichen's staff recommendation is approval with the condition that use of the fire training prop not occur during any burn ban or "no burn day" as declared by an agency with applicable jurisdiction. Graichen also explained this condition was recommended by the applicant, Columbia River Fire & Rescue.

Commissioner Cohen asked if there is a requirement to notify the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ). Graichen was unsure, but the applicant can address this. If it is needed, a condition of approval could also state that the applicant shall be responsible for receiving any necessary state or federal permits.

IN FAVOR

 γ **Ron Youngberg, Columbia River Fire & Rescue**: To address the comments about DEQ, Youngberg said as a government agency, they are exempt from most DEQ regulations and this is one of them. He still encouraged Graichen to include that the applicant be responsible for obtaining any needed permits as a condition of approval. That way, the City will have no liability.

Chair Petersen asked how the training prop will work. Youngberg said basically, two storage containers are welded together in a tried-and-true configuration. In the upper container, a fire is built using a minimal amount of wood, and students monitor the fire behavior over time in the bottom container. Then the fire is put out, and they do it over again. It is strictly a fire behavior trainer to teach people what happens inside a building during a fire, not how to attack fires.

Commissioner Cohen asked how much of the smoke will escape. Youngberg said eventually, all of the smoke will escape from the facility. The whole process, from starting the fire to extinguishment, is probably less than 15 minutes. They have watched videos and seen other fire behavior props in real life. They don't

believe the amount of smoke, given the size of their property, will cause an impact other than visually. It isn't similar to burning a fire all day. Commissioner Cohen asked if any chemicals, other than the wood, are used. Youngberg said no chemicals are used. Commissioner Cohen asked if the facility itself has a sprinkler system to put the fire out. Youngberg said no, they usually let the fire extinguish itself or sometimes use a hose to help.

Commissioner Semling asked if there was any way the smoke would reach Highway 30. Youngberg said based on other trainers and props, they do not anticipate smoke to travel to Highway 30. He said he is actually more worried about the wood smoke odor because it travels further than the smoke itself. Based on other training props they have seen, they do not anticipate the smoke traveling that far.

Commissioner Cohen asked where Walmart is compared to the prop location. Youngberg pointed very far off the map. Commissioner Cohen asked if there are any immediate neighbors. Youngberg said Columbia County 911 is their nearest neighbor. Commissioner Cohen asked how often they will use the facility. Youngberg said they will probably utilize the facility two to four times a year, slightly more at first because it will be new.

Commissioner Lawrence asked how likely smoke would inhibit drivers along the nearest road, McNulty Way. Youngberg believes it will not inhibit drivers hardly at all and if it did become a problem, they would cease operations. He also noted the prevailing winds tend to be north towards Highway 30, not south.

Commissioner Webster asked if there was any dissent from neighboring businesses. Graichen said surrounding property owners were notified and no comments were received.

IN OPPOSITION

There was no testimony in opposition.

END OF ORAL TESTIMONY

There were no requests to continue the hearing or leave the record open.

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING & RECORD

The applicant waived the opportunity to submit final written argument after the close of the record.

DELIBERATIONS

Graichen stated the full wording of the condition the Commission had discussed earlier about the owner/developer's responsibility to obtain permits and such from federal, state and local authorities.

Chair Petersen pointed out the condition of approval in the staff report states the training prop will not occur during any burn ban or "no burn" days. However, there are only two weeks in the spring and two weeks in the fall that are recognized by the City as official burn days. If the applicant will be using the training prop four times a year, how will that work? Either an exception will have to be granted to the applicant or the condition will have to be re-worded. Graichen pointed out the City has an exception for fire training facilities. In that case, Chair Petersen recommended altering the condition in the staff report accordingly.

MOTION B

Commissioner Cohen moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit with additional conditions that the applicant be responsible for obtaining all necessary agency permits as worded by Graichen during deliberations and that the fire prop shall not be used during any burn bans or "no burn" days. Commissioner Semling seconded. All in favor; none opposed; motion carries.

[Secretary Note: The intent of the second condition is to prohibit training when the general public cannot burn outside city limits.]

Commissioner Cohen moved for Chair Petersen to sign the Findings and Conclusions once prepared. Vice Chair Cary seconded. All in favor; none opposed; motion carries.

Public Hearing

St. Helens Organics Recycling, LLC Conditional Use Permit / CUP.2.14 1300 Kaster Road

It is now 7:33 p.m. and Chair Petersen opened the public hearing. There were no ex-parte contacts, conflicts of interest or bias in this matter.

Jacob Graichen entered the following items into the record:

Staff report packet dated January 6, 2015 with attachments

Graichen discussed the applicable criteria, analysis, and findings with the Commission. Graichen also discussed the possible conditions the Commission may require on approval. Graichen's recommendation is to approve the application with conditions as noted in the staff report.

Graichen discussed the anaerobic digester facility in Junction City, Oregon which is similar to this proposal. It is located in a much more rural area than St. Helens, but the closest residence to the Junction City facility is approximately 700 feet away, while the St. Helens proposal is about 2,000 feet away. There were no formal complaints filed against the Junction City facility according to the City, the County, and DEQ. Graichen also noted DEQ's permitting process will address odor control and includes a system to respond to public odor complaints. Graichen showed pictures of his site visit to the subject property to the Commission.

Vice Chair Cary asked where the nearest sewer hookup is for the applicant. Graichen said speaking very generally, it is near Old Portland Road and 16th Street.

Commissioner Cohen asked why landscaping was excluded from the staff report. Graichen said the earlier plans had mitigation efforts because the site was originally proposed closer to the Columbia River. With the final revision, it was far enough from the river that Graichen felt it didn't warrant landscaping. Although, Graichen did point out that landscaping could be used as a condition of approval to mitigate any impacts.

IN FAVOR

 γ **Paul Woods, St. Helens Organics Recycling, LLC, Applicant.** Woods introduced himself and thanked Graichen for doing a great job introducing the project. Woods is the founder and owner of St. Helens Organics Recycling, LLC. He is a registered professional engineer with 28 years of professional experience. He has worked as a consultant, started his own successful consulting business, and worked in the public

sector. He holds a Master's degree in Public Administration from Boise State University. He worked as the Associate Director of the Environmental Finance Center helping cities with water and wastewater compliance and finance issues and received an award from US Environmental Protection Agency for that work. He worked in the public sector, recently as the Environmental Division Manager of the Public Works Department for the City of Boise, ID. In that role, he oversaw Boise's solid waste and recycling programs and compliance with National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits for stormwater and wastewater. The sole supplier of the materials for the proposed project is Republic Services. Republic Services is one of the largest waste and recycling companies in the US. There is a General Manager from Republic Services here, Derek Ruckman, who can answer any questions about the materials, the transportation of materials, how it is collected, etc. Republic Services operates the Coffin Butte Landfill, the Pacific Regional Compost facility, and they have a contract with the Columbia County transfer station. Food waste, in the absence of oxygen, wants to naturally break down and one of the byproducts is a greenhouse gas, methane, which is a major contributor to climate change. Doing something different with our organic waste is an opportunity to protect our environment and create energy in the process.

Another partner in this project is General Electric (GE): Power & Water Division and Mr. Chris Allen is the GE representative here tonight. GE is responsible for all of the technology that makes the applicant's facility work. GE Power & Water has an office in Portland and they are an important partner in this project.

Pharmer Engineering, based in Boise, ID is the engineering firm for the project. The president and founder, Bob Pharmer, is here tonight. Bob Pharmer has over 38 years of experience with anaerobic technology, including over 20 years of those as the aerobic digestion expert at CH2M Hill. He has designed anaerobic digestion facilities for both municipal applications and private food processing application.

Boise White Paper, LLC is a partner and the owner of the property. Rich Garber is here as a representative to answer questions about the lease agreement and how the project will interact with the existing operation, Cascade Tissue. Those are the partners that make up St. Helens Organics Recycling, LLC.

Next, Woods discussed the technology utilized for this project. The Commission was shown a map of the site which identified the different facilities where key steps of the process occur. Anaerobic digestion is the technology being used to take organic food waste and make methane. Anaerobic technology has been around since the late 1800s. In a closed container, a mixture of 10 percent solid and 90 percent liquid is introduced to bacteria and mixed well. The bacteria does not have to be re-introduced once it is cultivated. The bacteria break down the food waste and create methane as a byproduct. This methane gas collects in the headspace and is then drawn off. Woods is proposing to sell this methane to Cascade Tissue to use in their boiler instead of natural gas. It would only be about 25 percent of the total energy used to power Cascade Tissue. When the methane is collected, it goes through a process involving iron sponge technology. This is where methane gas travels over wood which has been impregnated with iron (called a wood/iron media) and removes the hydrogen sulfide, which oxidizes and attaches to the wood/iron media. This means when the methane is burned, it will not release sulfur into the air. The wood/iron media is changed out one to two times a year. The depleted wood/iron media is highly concentrated with sulfur, which can be used as a soil amendment.

Next, the material in the digester undergoes a de-watering process. At this point, the material has no odor because all of the volatile solids and odor-causing materials have been destroyed with the anaerobic bacteria. The de-watered material is very rich in nitrogen and phosphorus, which are key components of fertilizer. Woods is proposing to work with land owners who can utilize the material as fertilizer. Instead of having to mine phosphorus rock or create ammonium fertilizer, this facility will take the excess material to grow produce. The water collected from the de-watering process is what will be sent to the City's wastewater treatment plant. That summarizes the technology and process of anaerobic digestion.

When the material originally arrives, it looks like the food in your garbage can or food waste from Safeway or Albertsons. Examples include expired food/juice/milk, post-consumer scraps from restaurants, and grease trap waste. These all have tremendous potential for biogas generation. Republic Services trucks keep this material entirely contained and bring it to the site. When food waste first arrives, it is about 85 percent water. Trucks will go across the scales that Cascade Tissue uses, back their truck into the de-packaging facility, the doors will close, and the material is dumped onto the floor. The waste is then loaded into a hopper device that shreds the materials to separate plastics from the food waste material. Once the material is in the hopper vessel, there is no potential for odor. The potential for odor is when the trucks dump the material onto the floor. There is no overnight storage or collecting of food waste. When it comes in, it is processed immediately. All air that leaves the de-packaging facility is pulled through a biofilter, which is a mix of compost and wood chips. Biofilters are an older technology that have been used effectively in a number of applications. Essentially it is a chamber with a series of cells where media absorb the odorous compounds, until each cell becomes completely saturated and has to be changed out. Part of the DEQ permitting process involves demonstrating a successful ratio of media to air in this biofilter. The big difference between this proposal and other composting facilities is that this proposal is all contained indoors, not outside in open air.

Commissioner Lawrence asked about the type of odor control that will be used at the de-packaging facility. Woods described the ducts that pull all air from the building like a vacuum into a series of pipes where it is introduced to the biofilter. Commissioner Lawrence asked how the 10 percent solid/90 percent liquid material gets from the de-packaging facility to the digesters. Woods said it is piped from the shredder device to the anaerobic digesters. It is completely contained and there is absolutely no air coming from the anaerobic digesters.

Commissioner Semling asked where the packaging material is stored and where it is taken. Woods said this material is stored inside the de-packaging facility and it is hauled off as a backhaul to either the Columbia County Transfer Station or directly to Coffin Butte Landfill. This material, because of quantity, only needs to be hauled off once or twice a week. The packaging material is incredibly clean. It has no traces of organic material because they put it through an intense washing process. The organic material is valuable and they want to use every bit of it to make biogas. Commissioner Semling asked if there was a plant similar to this in Boise, ID. Woods said no because the landfill costs are cheap. He wishes they had one. He thinks there will be many more of these facilities in the future because organic waste in landfills is a heavy contributor to greenhouse gas emissions.

Chair Peterson asked how much of the site is impervious. Woods said of the five acre piece they will lease, it is about 50 percent pervious, 50 percent impervious.

Commissioner Hubbard asked if they would be utilizing the rail line for shipments. Woods said that they have no immediate plans to use it. He said he hopes someday they could. The rail line is also currently used by Cascade Tissue, so it would be a joint access should the facility use it in the future.

Commissioner Cohen asked if there is a legal definition of organic waste and what it could contain. Woods said he was not aware of any legal definition. Commissioner Cohen asked Woods how *he* would define the material that he would accept at his facility. Woods said all they will take is food scraps or grease trap waste, which will occasionally contain plastics or paper packaging. If someone puts in a kitchen pan, they will be able to separate this out before the system comes to a halt. Vice Chair Cary asked if they would accept hospital or meat packaging waste. Woods said no, it is not a rendering facility.

Chair Petersen asked what the letters CHP stand for on the site map. Woods said that it stands for

combined heat and power. In the event that they want to create electricity, biogas is converted to electricity using a large 12 or 16 cylinder engine. The heat for this process can be used to heat the digesters because anaerobic digesters require 95 degree Fahrenheit temperatures to function. Woods said they may also use Cascade Tissue's low-grade steam to heat the digesters.

Commissioner Cohen asked how much of the total material they take in ends up being excess solid waste. Woods said if they take in 60,000 tons of organic material in a year, it would produce 4,000 tons of solids that could be used as soil amendments. The main reason for that is the high water content of the material that comes in. Cohen asked how long that material would stay on site before it was transferred off site. Woods said those are parameters that DEQ will likely set, but they will work with growers to take the material continuously, so they will not end up stockpiling it. Commissioner Cohen asked where the material would be stored. Woods said they will store these materials in the enclosed solids handling facility identified on the site map. Vice Chair Cary asked if this material would have an odor. Woods said no, but if it did become an issue, they could install a similar air filtration system as the de-packaging facility.

Commissioner Cohen asked how much material they are initially projecting to take in. Woods said they are proposing about 20,000 tons per year and to grow over time to a maximum of 60,000 tons per year. Vice Chair Cary asked about the hours of operation. Woods said initially, they are anticipating to be open 5 days a week (with potential for 7 days a week in the future) and about 3 loads a day. This would be opening the door about 12 times a day. Commissioner Cohen asked what happens after the truck dumps the material. Woods said the trucks are washed with the doors shut and this water is collected and conveyed into the digester because it contains organic material that is usable.

Commissioner Cohen asked about the landscaping plan that was crossed out in the application. Woods said originally they were going to have a stormwater outfall facility on site, but instead they will be utilizing existing stormwater facilities on site. He is not opposed to landscaping requirements, but he was unsure where on the site it would be located.

Commissioner Lawrence noted their facility is very close to the Columbia River where there are a lot of important recreational and wildlife considerations. She asked if the applicant has a plan to prevent any possible contamination of the river with liquids from the operation. Woods said there will be no liquids or materials stored outside of the anaerobic digester facilities. The liquids will be completely contained. In terms of the de-watering liquids, that liquid will be pumped in a brand new pipeline that will go to the wastewater treatment plant. Woods does not yet know the route the pipeline will take because the concept is a new development in discussions with DEQ. Chair Petersen said the direction of the new pipeline indicated on the site plan is in a different direction than Graichen had indicated earlier. Woods said the direction was simply a concept at the time of the application. The actual route of the wastewater pipeline will be worked out in discussions with DEO.

Commissioner Cohen asked how much time the facility will be down for maintenance and testing in one year's time. Woods said the facility will operate 90 percent of the year. For maintenance of the facility, they are designing components such as the biofilter with more capacity than they need, so they will not have to be closed often for maintenance. The digesters sometimes need solids cleaned out, but that is not something that occurs every year. Commissioner Cohen asked what would happen to the deliveries during the 10 percent downtime or in an emergency when they shut the facility down. Woods said the materials would not get stored on site, even during an unexpected closure. Republic Services currently composts this material and that is where it would go if they could not process it immediately at the facility.

Commissioner Webster asked how many employees the facility will have. Woods said they anticipate about 10 employees. Commissioner Lawrence asked if the facility would be manned 24 hours a day. Woods said they have plans for just one shift, but there are constant monitoring alarms and ways to operate the facility

remotely when employees are not present. For example, if the digester stops conveying the biogas to the engine or the boiler, there is an emergency flare on the digester and the equipment quits feeding the digester materials.

Vice Chair Cary asked if there was a risk of explosion with the methane gas leakage or exposure to air. Woods said that there is no threat. The entire facility will be constructed and operated to the National Fire Protection Association Code. There is a very small methane storage tank on the facility that contains 75 percent liquid with gas under very low pressure in the headspace that is drawn off. The tank is there for purposes of equalizing the flow of gas and only contains a one to two hours of gas, not days.

 γ **Derek Ruckman, Republic Services.** Ruckman is the General Manager at Republic Services and would like to testify in favor of the applicant. Commissioner Lawrence asked if the trucks have an odor. Ruckman said they are industrial dump trucks that are sealed and tarped on the top. They are loaded from the top. They do not have leaks or odor issues today and they travel 70 miles on the highway two or three times a day every day.

Commissioner Hubbard asked where they get their garbage. Ruckman said they own and operate a garbage solid waste hauling facility and have about 80 trucks in the North Willamette Valley. They collect every day from places like the Nines Hotel in downtown Portland, the Moda Center, and the Safeway distribution center. This garbage is taken to the Wilsonville transfer station, and from there it is loaded into dump trucks and taken to the processing facility. Commissioner Hubbard asked about grease trap waste. Ruckman said they do not handle liquids currently.

γ Rich Garber, Boise White Paper, LLC, Property Owner. Garber is the Environmental Director of Boise White Paper, LLC and has been with them for about 24 years, including about 4 years at the St. Helens site in the early 90s. Garber would like to testify on behalf of Boise White Paper, LLC in favor of the applicant. He thinks this is a very innovative project of the highest caliber. He has worked with Bob Pharmer of Pharmer Engineering as far back as 1996. When Pharmer was at CH2M Hill, they installed anaerobic technology at a Boise plant in Jackson, Alabama. This technology continues to function well and serve the paper mill today. Garber has been involved with the contract discussions between Cascade Tissue, GE, the City and others. In these discussions, Garber feels there is a lot of support for the project. The partners of this project are of the highest caliber. They are technically savvy, transparent, and full of integrity. Boise has been looking at different opportunities to re-purpose the site in the last 3-5 years and this is the finest group. He highly recommends the individuals and the companies involved in this project. From an environmental standpoint, odor was one of their first concerns. At every turn, the applicant has assured Boise and they can see their methodology for controlling odor is sound. In terms of overall community impact, Garber said this development will bring jobs and adds an innovative technology to the community. He can't think of a better group of individuals for a project team than what has been assembled and he highly recommends approval of this project.

Commissioner Cohen asked if he has visited any facility similar to this. Garber said he has not been to the Junction City facility, but he has visited the Netherlands in 1997 with Bob Pharmer to see the anaerobic technology to prepare for the facility in Jackson, Alabama. They have done a great job eliminating odors. Commissioner Cohen clarified that this is not a new technology. Garber said no, anaerobic technology has been around over 100 years and is utilized worldwide. Commissioner Cohen asked how the technology is doing at the plant in Jackson, Alabama. Garber said they have had it in place and demonstrating compliance since 2001 and Boise has been very satisfied. Commissioner Cohen asked if Boise would remain the owner. Garber said the applicant would have a lease the same as Cascade Tissue (through 2038).

 γ Diane Dillard, Resident. Dillard worked at the Boise White Paper Mill for over 44 years. She worked with

Garber for over 30 years and knows him to be ethical and honest. She believes this project is innovative and this property needs to be repurposed. The community lost 644 jobs and this project will help the City recover. Dillard noted that if Cascade can get a better energy price, they may stay longer and possibly add jobs too. She feels this is a great addition to our community.

- γ **Stephen Topaz, Resident.** Topaz says in New York City since 1890 or so, they have had facilities handle sewage in a way similar to the applicant's bacterial process. It generates all the electricity they need to handle the sewage, and there is no smell. Smells can also be covered industrially. Topaz also noted the depackaging facility is a much smaller facility than others, so it would be relatively easy for them to keep the odor contained in their biofilter system. This facility also is great because it does not go through a thermal process, which means it is much more efficient at getting the energy out of the organic material. Topaz is only concerned about bacteria contamination. The applicant did not address the sterilization process or what would happen if something goes wrong with the bacteria. Other than that, Topaz would like to see this facility approved and expanded to even receive shipments by barge or train.
- γ **Dorian Hayles, Resident.** Hayles would not like to testify in favor or against the applicant, but would like to ask a few questions of Woods. Where does the energy that is produced from the facility go? What do you do with the byproducts of the process? How do you plan to filter out the plastics that come with the organic waste? How much energy, compared to the state of Oregon or St. Helens, will this facility produce? What kinds of pollution, if any, will this facility produce? Hayles would also like to express that based on his small background in chemistry, the facility does not have a risk of explosion.
- γ **Della Fawcett, Resident.** Fawcett would not like to testify in favor or against the applicant, but would like to ask a few questions of Woods. Will you be digging for infrastructure at the Boise site for buildings or tanks? Is there any way to use Hudson Services, the local waste management service? Local restaurants produce plenty of food waste to use in the facility. What is your hydrogen sulfide removal process and what happens to the waste from the removal process? Lastly, what is the size of the tank for gas storage?
- γ **Chris Thomas, Resident**. Thomas has been in the solid waste industry for about 20 years and is an employee of Waste Connections, which is a parent company of Hudson Garbage Service. He would like to testify in favor of the project. He has seen the facility in Junction City and knows first-hand that it is a great process. He is supportive of the project in terms of energy recovery and as a local job creator. Thomas would like to ask Woods if local waste in the County or the City would be able to utilize the facility.
- γ **Howard Blumenthal, Resident**. Blumenthal would like to testify in favor of the applicant, but there are some small issues worth addressing. He does not want any byproducts from the facility to throw the City's wastewater plant out of whack. He is also concerned about the intersection of Kaster Rd. and Old Portland Rd., which is an older intersection without crosswalks or sidewalks and has an older style stoplight. More people are walking and bicycling through this route and there has not been the same level of truck traffic since Boise closed. Sometimes that signal goes out for a few days because of its age. With the additional truck traffic to the Boise property, he would like the City to consider upgrading the intersection to be more pedestrian-friendly.

IN OPPOSITION

 γ **Kristine Lambert, Resident.** Lambert just sold her property on Sykes Rd. and moved 2 blocks from McCormick Park, so she is quite concerned about this proposal. In 1987, Lambert was part of a coalition that went up against Columbia County, Metro, and Ogden Martin. They wanted to bring a multi-million dollar garbage burner facility to Columbia County. The facility was proposed to be state-of-the-art, bring jobs, etc. When Lambert asked why they wanted to bring the facility to Columbia County, they said that Portland's air

shed could not handle the pollution. Lambert found this hard to believe because the smell in Columbia County was so bad from Boise's wood pulp operation. Now, the only reason St. Helens smells decent is because the Boise facility stopped operations. She worries this operation will bring odor back. Lambert said when she talks to people in town about the facility, they feel there was not enough notification. Residents are under the impression that this would be a St. Helens project and when people hear the materials are from Portland, they say no way. Lambert is concerned about St. Helens being the "testing ground" for this new technology. The applicants do not live in St. Helens, but Lambert loves this area and does not want to have to move. If the City decides to approve this proposal, she asks that the citizens of Columbia County be allowed to vote on it. The development may sound good on paper, but if she were on this Commission, she would make sure it is flawless. Lambert cannot imagine a facility that brings in waste and does not have an odor. This development will decrease property values and reduce livability.

REBUTTAL

 γ **Paul Woods, St. Helens Organics Recycling, LLC, Applicant.** Woods first responded to several questions that had already been addressed in his previous testimony. Next, Woods said they will be doing some limited digging. They will be doing some geo-technical analysis where the existing concrete slab is located and they may remove the slab to build a foundation. The area where the de-packaging facility will be located was previously dug up and filled, and the proposed facility is a slab on grade building that will not require much bearing pressure. All of the piping would require digging about 2-4 feet deep.

To respond to the questions about using Hudson Services, Woods said the reason they wanted to use one garbage service was for the ease of managing deliveries. Hudson Services may be utilized in the future, but only through the assistance of Republic Services.

Regarding the light at Kaster Rd. and Old Portland Rd., Republic Services will understand that intersection and will be as safe as possible. Safety is a key concern for them as well.

In terms of Oregon's energy production, Woods anticipates about 2.2 megawatts of power, which is not much compared to the state's energy production. If the methane gas is used by Cascade Tissue, there are no additional emissions than what is already occurring at the site right now. It will simply offset some of their natural gas usage. There are some emissions released when using the methane gas to create electricity. This process is also regulated by DEQ.

Woods is sympathetic about the concerns of smell from burning garbage. This facility will not be burning garbage. This facility will always be an anaerobic digestion facility. The facility mentioned in North Plains is a composting facility and this proposal is not that. In terms of the permitting process, this is the very beginning. Woods is happy to speak with any group or concerned citizens. This is only the first step in gaining permission to develop this facility and there will be many more opportunities to take comments. Odor is a concern of theirs too. If this facility stinks and is a bad example of the technology, the environment isn't served, the community is not served, and the companies involved in this proposal are not served. Woods stated odor will simply not be a part of this project.

 γ **Bob Pharmer, Pharmer Engineering.** Pharmer is the founder and owner of Pharmer Engineering, which employs 16 people. He is an engineer who specializes in anaerobic treatment and has worked on installing anaerobic systems all over North America. He would like to answer a few questions that were asked about the anaerobic technology. The anaerobic digesters must be kept at the same temperature as humans because the bacteria live naturally in our colons. There are two types of bacteria that live together in the digesters: an acid-forming bacteria and a methane-forming bacteria. Once the digesters are up and running, the two types of bacteria live in harmony, reproduce, and stay up and running for years. Pesticides

and herbicides can kill the bacteria, but it is unlikely that the food scraps would contain these. Anaerobic digesters are in nearly every city in North America, Europe, and Oregon (Portland, Vancouver, Seattle, Bend, and Tacoma to name a few). The technology has been around for a long time and is proven to work well. Pharmer said this facility will contain the highest quality equipment they can buy in order to make it a dependable system.

Vice Chair Cary asked about the differing ratios of bacteria between the digesters. Pharmer said the liquid stays mixed as a homogeneous liquid and the digesters stay at a constant volume. If one gallon goes in, one gallon comes out. Chair Petersen asked if there are beaters or air pumps in the digesters. Pharmer said they pump gas from the bottom which bubbles to the top and mixes the liquid. Chair Petersen asked if the liquids in the digesters are pressurized and if so, how much pressure. Pharmer said it is about one-third of a PSI, which is very low pressure. They actually measure it in inches of water. When the gas is sent to the boiler at Cascade Tissue or the CHP generator, they increase the pressure of the gas to about 10 PSI. There is no high pressure gas on the facility.

Pharmer also pointed out a use like this will have to meet strict regulations from DEQ related to the air, solids, liquids, byproducts, etc. If it does not meet their regulations, the facility will shut down.

END OF ORAL TESTIMONY

There were no requests to continue the hearing or leave the record open.

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING & RECORD

The applicant waived the opportunity to submit final written argument after the close of the record.

DELIBERATIONS

Commissioner Cohen said the applicant seems to have done their homework. He sees no real reason with significant backing to deny this permit. He wants to be very cautious as a Commission that all permits are obtained and that as many safeguards are in place to assure as little damage to the community as possible if something goes wrong.

Chair Petersen said digesters are being used in all kinds of situations, particularly in dairy farms because of the high methane production. He had a suspicion smell would be an issue. He has experienced very smelly composting facilities, but in this case, he thinks this technology is sound and will become much more prevalent. He discussed how this anaerobic technology is even being used at a Greek yogurt facility. The facility will be heavily regulated by DEQ and he feels the applicant will meet the odor criteria.

Vice Chair Cary feels it is beneficial to our city to have cutting edge technology located here. This proposal may even spur similar types of development in the same Boise property industrial node. He mentioned a new facility that makes plastics from methane. He feels the applicant has addressed odor and the location of the facility is ideal because it is very far from residents.

Commissioner Cohen asked if they should consider requesting the applicant pave more surfaces to protect the surrounding environment in the case of spillage. Chair Petersen noted the difficulty of looking at the site plan to determine where new paving is proposed and already exists. Graichen discussed the St. Helens Municipal Code (SHMC) requirements regarding paved surfaces, which includes the stipulation that any areas with possible soil contamination can be required to be paved for protection. Vice Chair Cary said DEQ will likely regulate this. Graichen agreed the DEQ permitting process will address paving because they are

concerned with the protection of groundwater.

Commissioner Cohen asked about a traffic impact analysis. Graichen said that this development did not require a full-blown traffic impact analysis, but a condition related to the design of the vehicle access points can be required. However, the signalization of the Old Portland Rd. and Kaster Rd. intersection will be fairly expensive and the condition must be proportional to the extent of the development. Striping pedestrian improvements may be a cheaper alternative to complete signalization. Chair Petersen said a traffic impact analysis will almost certainly conclude that the new development does not have a greater traffic impact than the previous use, therefore a traffic System Development Charge cannot be collected.

Vice Chair Cary said we do not know where the applicant's sewer lines will go and they may have to travel through wetlands. If this is the case, it would require a sensitive lands permit which is an administrative decision. However, Graichen said there could also be a condition that if a sensitive lands permit is required, a public hearing is needed. The Commission agreed this should be a condition.

Chair Petersen would like to see that pedestrian facilities at the Kaster Rd. intersection be a condition, if it is possible. Commissioner Webster noted that foot traffic through that intersection has increased because of Walmart. Chair Petersen said foot traffic has also increased because of the installation of the pedestrian bridges on Old Portland Rd. Councilor Carlson said she remembers this intersection when Boise had double tractor trailers going through it. For this proposal, they are just using much smaller dump trucks. However, she noted that kids catch the bus at this intersection in the dark at 7:15am. She would like to see this intersection with added lighting and improved landscaping. This improves safety of the area without getting into signalization or sidewalks.

Chair Petersen said the condition could say that the applicant shall restripe the intersection at Kaster Rd. to provide zebra-striped pedestrian crosswalks at the intersection of Kaster Rd./Old Portland Rd./18th Street based on the SHMC Engineering Standards. The Commission agreed.

Commissioner Semling asked if the Commission would have the chance to review the final site design after DEQ permits are granted. Graichen said the Conditional Use Permit process for St. Helens typically includes elements of the Site Design Review, but if the Commission wants to review the final site plan, it could be a condition. For example, the condition could say final site plan shall be approved by the City following a recommendation by the Planning Commission. The Commission concurred.

MOTION B

Commissioner Cohen moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit with the following additional conditions:

- 1) Intersection of Old Portland Rd. and Kaster Rd. shall be striped to meet city standards with pedestrian crossings on all sides.
- 2) Final site plan shall be approved by the City following recommendation by the Commission.
- 3) Any sensitive lands permit related to this proposal shall require a public hearing.

Commissioner Webster seconded. All in favor; none opposed; motion carries.

Commissioner Semling moved for Chair Petersen to sign the Findings and Conclusions once prepared. Commissioner Cohen seconded. All in favor; none opposed; motion carries.

П

Chair/Vice Chair Discussion

Councilor Carlson said Council would like commissions to rotate through chair and vice chair so that no commission is heavily reliant on a single individual. However, Councilor Carlson said they also understand the Planning Commission needs a well prepared chair, so Council will follow the Commission's recommendation.

Commissioner Webster suggested Vice Chair Cary step up to chair and Chair Petersen could become vice chair. Chair Petersen has been chair for two years and would like a break, but he said he could do it one more year. After one year, he would prefer to step down. Commissioner Cohen would like to keep Chair Petersen as chair for one more year. Vice Chair Cary prefers this too.

Commissioner Cohen moved to keep Chair Petersen as chair and Vice Chair Cary as vice chair. Commissioner Webster seconded. All in favor; none opposed; motion carries.

П

Marijuana and Land Use Discussion (continued)

This topic is tabled for the next meeting. Graichen requested that the Commission review the memo included in the packet and a discussion will occur next month.

Residential Lot Coverage Increase Discussion

This topic is tabled until next meeting.

End of Year Summary Report

Graichen noted that although the numbers are lower than in the past, this year has been one of the toughest and busiest years he has had. There was no further discussion.

CLG Historic Preservation Grant Program

Assistant Planner Dimsho discussed the upcoming application for the Certified Local Governments (CLG) Historic Preservation Grant Program with the Commission. Chair Petersen feels the application is set up to receive the most bang for our buck with the limited grant funds. The Commission agrees that staff should proceed as the memo states.

П

Planning Director Decisions

- a. Sign Permit (2) at 2298 Gable Rd. Suite 130 Adam Skrzeszewski, Professional Permits
- b. Site Design Review (minor) at 31 Cowlitz St. Norway Development

There were no comments.

Planning Department Activity Reports There was no discussion.

There being no further business before the Planning Commission, the meeting was adjourned at 10:55 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Jennifer Dimsho Planning Secretary

2015 Planning Commission Attendance Record P=Present A=Absent Can=Cancelled

	T = Tesent A=Absent Gan=Ganecilea						
Date	Petersen	Hubbard	Lawrence	Cohen	Cary	Semling	Webster
01/13/15	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
02/10/15							
03/10/15							
04/14/15							
05/12/15							
06/09/15							
07/14/15							
08/11/15							
09/08/15							
10/13/15							
11/10/15							
12/08/15							